OCI 11 1993

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 81,927

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By Chief Deputy Clerk

RAYMOND MICHAEL THOMPSON,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MICHAEL J. MINERVA Interim Capital Collateral Representative Florida Bar No. 092487

MARTIN J. MCCLAIN Chief Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 0754773

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE 1533 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, FL 32301 (904) 487-4376

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Raymond Thompson was found guilty of first degree murder on June 5, 1986. After a sentencing proceeding the jury recommended a life sentence by a vote of 10-2 (R. 2896). The trial judge sentenced Mr. Thompson to death (R. 3340-51). Mr. Thompson appealed his conviction and sentence to this Court which affirmed. Thompson v. State, 553 So. 2d 153 (Fla. 1989).

On September 19, 1991 a Motion to Vacate the Conviction and Sentence under Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.850 was filed in the circuit court (PC-R. 20). Among other claims, Mr. Thompson pled that the State had concealed significant impeachment evidence regarding its key trial witnesses, in violation of <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. 83 The Rule 3.850 motion also pled ineffective assistance of trial counsel during guilt phase for his failures to present impeachment evidence on the key state's witness, to investigate an involuntary intoxication defense, and to retain a mental health expert to discuss the effect of massive substance abuse on the ability to form specific intent. Mr. Thompson further pled ineffective assistance at penalty phase based on trial counsel's failures to prepare background information, to timely request a mental health evaluation to develop mitigation, and to develop and present statutory and nonstatutory mitigation. The Rule 3.850 motion also pled that state agencies' failures to comply fully with Chapter 119, Fla. Stat., had prevented Mr. Thompson from fully presenting his claims. The motion was summarily denied on September 22, 1991 (PC-R. 39-40).

On November 4, 1991, a Motion for Rehearing was filed (PC-R. 41). This motion was summarily denied on May 10, 1993 (PC-R. 285). Even though the State withheld documents from Mr. Thompson after he had made requests under Chapter 119, Fla. Stat., no review or hearing was held concerning these documents.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

- 1. Mr. Thompson's motion to vacate was dismissed because the time of filing (one year early), access to the files and records of certain state agencies had been withheld in violation of Chapter 119.01 Et seq., Fla. Stat. The trial court erroneously failed to conduct an in camera inspection of documents that the State deemed exempt and failed to afford counsel an opportunity to appear before the court to discuss the outstanding public records issues.
- 2. Mr. Thompson pled substantial claims relating to <u>Brady</u> violations and ineffective assistance of counsel in both guilt and penalty phase issues that require an evidentiary hearing. Contrary to this Court's law, the trial court summarily denied relief without an evidentiary hearing on the 3.850 motion and did not point out which records or files conclusively show that Mr. Thompson is entitled to no relief. This summary denial was in error. This court must reverse the order, and order a full evidentiary hearing on Mr. Thompson's 3.850 claims.
- 3. The State withheld critical exculpatory evidence at the time of trial. The witnesses at trial each had received lenient treatment for their testimony. The State was actively working to

have California criminal charges dismissed against one key witness for his testimony. A key FBI witness testified falsely concerning the effort by the State to have these charges dismissed. An evidentiary hearing and relief are required.

- 4. Counsel was ineffective for not investigating and presenting information at the guilt/innocence stage which would have impeached the State's key witness. Counsel was also rendered ineffective by trial court rulings limiting the examination of witnesses. Counsel further failed to investigate and present evidence concerning the effect of drugs and alcohol on Mr. Thompson's ability to form any specific intent and failed to secure defense experts.
- 5. No adversarial testing occurred during the penalty phase of Mr. Thompson's trial. Defense counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate and present compelling information about Mr. Thompson's background to the jury and the judge. Substantial statutory and non-statutory mitigating evidence concerning his background including information on the abusive and alcoholic father, the family's poverty and Mr. Thompson's history of debilitating drug abuse was readily available. Counsel failed to investigate this information. Counsel also failed to obtain the assistance of a mental health expert until after the guilty verdict, failed to provide the expert with necessary background information, and failed to have necessary psychological testing performed. Had counsel fulfilled his duties, statutory and nonstatutory mitigation would have been

established which would have been precluded an override. An evidentiary hearing and relief are required.

- 6. Due to defense counsel's ineffectiveness and the sentencing court's misunderstanding of the law, Mr. Thompson was denied his rights to effective and adequate mental health assistance under the fifth, sixth, eighth, and fourteenth amendments. No background materials were supplied to the mental health experts who were not retained until after guilty verdict. Mr. Thompson did not receive a full adversarial testing of his sentence.
- 7. Newly discovered evidence establishes that Mr. Thompson was wrongly sentenced to death. According to codefendant Scott Errico, at the time of the offense Mr. Thompson's substance abuse was "massive," his drug binges were "the rule, not the exception," and he was a "legend" of drug abuse. This evidence was previously unavailable, provides more than ample support for the defense mental health expert's conclusions regarding mitigation, and probably would have resulted in a life sentence.
- 8. Mr. Thompson was unable to confront the witnesses against him when the trial court erroneously limited defense counsel's cross-examination of the state's witnesses. It was critical to the defense to fully cross-examine the key state witness' credibility and to impeach his testimony in regard to his mental instability and violent behavior. Failure to allow full cross-examination of the key witness denied Mr. Thompson's rights under the fifth, sixth, eighth and fourteenth amendments.

- 9. Mr. Thompson's motion to vacate was dismissed even though there were omissions in the record reflecting that the record on appeal was not complete. No meaningful appellate review could occur without absolute confidence in the meaningful appellate review.
- 10. The prosecutor's improper remarks invited the jury to convict Mr. Thompson and sentence him to death on wholly impermissible factors. The prosecutor repeatedly resorted to improper argument, resulting in a fundamentally unfair death sentence. Defense counsel's failure effectively to argue this issue constituted ineffective assistance of counsel.
- 11. The trial judge failed to give the jury's life recommendation the deference it was due. His comments to the jury establish that he did not know the law and did not follow the law when overriding the life recommendation.
- 12. The trial court misapplied the aggravating circumstances as reflected in the jury instructions on aggravating circumstances contrary to the law in Maynard v.

 Cartwright, Hitchcock v. Dugger, and the eighth and fourteenth amendments.
- 13. At sentencing, the burden was shifted to Mr. Thompson to prove whether he should live or die.
- 14. The trial court's refusal to find or consider the mitigating circumstances clearly in the record was eighth amendment error.

- 15. At the guilt phase, the State did not prove by substantial evidence the corpus delecti for first degree murder and such failure was fundamental error fatal to the constitutionality of Mr. Thompson's sentence.
- 16. The trial court refused to recognize that to consider sympathy and mercy based upon mitigating evidence was permissible.
- 17. Fundamental error was committed in Mr. Thompson's case when the trial court and the Florida Supreme Court failed to adequately evaluate mitigation in light of Parker v. Dugger.
- 18. Mr. Thompson's trial was fraught with procedural and substantive errors, which cannot be harmless when viewed as a whole since the combination of errors deprived him of fundamentally fair trial.

ARGUMENT I

ACCESS TO THE FILES AND RECORDS PERTAINING TO MR. THOMPSON IN THE POSSESSION OF CERTAIN STATE AGENCIES WERE WITHHELD IN VIOLATION OF CHAPTER 119, FLA. STAT., THE EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION, AND THE CORRESPONDING PROVISIONS OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

Mr. Thompson's Rule 3.850 motion and rehearing motion pled that the Office of the State Attorney for Broward County and the Florida Department of Law Enforcement (FDLE) both failed to comply with the Florida Public Records Act, sec. 119, Fla. Stat. (1989). A Chapter 119 letter was delivered to both agencies on May 6, 1991. In that letter CCR requested any and all files relating to Mr. Thompson and to co-defendants Robert Allan Davis

and Robert Marion Stephens. Over four months later, on September 13, 1991, a Friday afternoon six days before the date that counsel had agreed to file Mr. Thompson's 3.850 motion, CCR received six boxes of the State's files containing 11,000 documents. FDLE provided Mr. Thompson with 130 pages of documents even though at the time of trial the State had indicated the agency had over 500 pages. These 130 pages were not provided until October 31, 1991.

Withheld from the State Attorney materials was an accordion folder of documents. No statement was provided with the released material indicating any exemption from the Public Records Act claimed by the State. This exempted file was shown to CCR investigator Jeffrey Walsh (but not the contents), and Assistant State Attorney Zacks said this was the material he personally considered exempt from 119.²

A 3.850 motion was filed on September 19, 1991 and denied three days later. Filed with the 3.850 motion was a request to amend once the State had complied with Chapter 119. In denying the motion to amend the circuit court stated:

¹See, State's Answer to Defendant's Demand for Discovery dated 2-20-85 (PC-R. 44).

²Since this 3.850 motion was dismissed without an evidentiary hearing this Court "must treat [the] allegations as true except to the extent that they are conclusively rebutted by the record." Harich v. State, 484 So. 2d 1239, 1241 (Fla. 1986); See also, Mills v. State, 559 So. 2d 578, 579 (Fla. 1990). The State did not contest and the record does not rebut that records were withheld by Mr. Zacks. Also the circuit court denied the 3.850 motion three days after it was filed, preventing the filing of any motion to compel Chapter 119 compliance.

- 4. According to the defendant's motion, the State Attorney's Office has given him access to six boxes of State Attorney files pursuant to a "public records" request filed earlier this year. These materials could have been sought at any point in time following the conclusion of the defendant's direct appeal.
- 5. The Court finds that this Special Request for Leave to Amend is not well founded and further that it is merely a delaying tactic employed by the defendant.

(PC-R. 37-38). The circuit court did not discuss the facts that CCR had requested the State Attorney files over four months before the 3.850 motion was to be filed and that the 3.850 motion was filed nine months before the 2-year time limitation of Rule 3.850. Contrary to the circuit court's ruling, Mr. Thompson had made diligent efforts to initiate post-conviction litigation and to compel Chapter 119 compliance.

The day after denying leave to amend, the circuit court denied the 3.850 motion (PC-R. 39). In a Motion for Rehearing, Mr. Thompson requested an <u>in camera</u> inspection and an evidentiary hearing concerning the chapter 119 claims. When the State finally submitted a response to the motion for rehearing it agreed an <u>in camera</u> hearing was appropriate (PC-R. 209). However, the State did not submit the withheld materials for such a review. Without specifically addressing the 119 issue, the circuit court denied rehearing.

This Court has consistently held that a capital defendant is entitled to Chapter 119 disclosure. "It is well settled that capital post conviction defendants are entitled to chapter 119 records disclosure." <u>Muehleman v. State</u>, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S447,

S447 (Fla. August 6, 1993), citing, Walton v. Dugger, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S309 (Fla. May 27, 1993); Kokal v. State, 562 So.2d 324 (Fla. 1990); Provenzano v. State, 561 So.2d 541 (Fla. 1990).

The Court has further held that if there is a dispute as to documents claimed to be exempt the circuit court must hold an "evidentiary hearing to determine whether the defendant was entitled to the records." Muehleman v. State, 18 Fla. L. Weekly at S447. Here, the circuit court should have conducted an in camera inspection of all documents claimed to be exempt by the State. Walton v. Dugger, 18 Fla. L. Weekly at S310; Kokal, 562 So. 2d at 327. The State agreed to an in camera inspection but never delivered the materials for the in camera inspection nor asserted what exemption was being invoked.

The Florida Department of Law Enforcement also withheld documents without making any claims of exemptions. It should be noted that this agency in conjunction with the FBI was in charge of this massive investigation. At trial, a State's discovery response indicated that the FDLE had generated over 500 pages of documents. However, the FDLE has only disclosed 130 pages of documents. FDLE has not complied fully under 119. No <u>in camera</u> inspection of the documents withheld by the FDLE was conducted, and no evidentiary hearing concerning the chapter 119 issues was held.

Mr. Thompson's rights to due process and equal protection, as well as his rights under Chapter 119, Florida Statutes, have been violated. This Court must remand this matter to the circuit

court so that an evidentiary hearing can be conducted. At the very least an <u>in camera</u> inspection of the documents withheld by Mr. Zacks and the FDLE must occur. Mr. Thompson should be allowed sixty days to amend his 3.850 motion after full disclosure by the State. <u>Muehleman v. State</u>.

ARGUMENT II

MR. THOMPSON IS ENTITLED TO AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING ON HIS 3.850 CLAIMS.

On September 19, 1992, Mr. Thompson filed his Rule 3.850 motion. The circuit court denied leave to amend on September 21, 1992, and on September 22, 1992, summarily denied the motion stating that it was devoid of facts. The failure of the State to fully provide the requested documents under Chapter 119 prevented Mr. Thompson from fully pleading his claims in the 3.850 motion. The order denying the 3.850 motion had no attachments.

Mr. Thompson timely filed a motion for rehearing on November 4, 1992 (PC-R. 41), presenting the circuit court with claims for relief which required an evidentiary hearing for proper resolution. The issues presented included a substantial claim under Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), that the State had concealed exculpatory evidence concerning deals made with its key trial witness. See Argument III. The motion presented a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel at the guilt phase based on counsel's failure to investigate and present evidence impeaching the testimony of the State's key witness and on counsel's failure to investigate and present readily available evidence of an intoxication defense. See Argument IV. The motion also

presented a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase, specifically pleading that trial counsel failed to investigate and prepare mitigation that would have shown Mr.

Thompson's background of childhood abuse, family background of poverty and his years with an alcoholic father and that would have established statutory and nonstatutory mitigation. See

Argument V. The motion also specifically pled that trial counsel failed to even begin to prepare for the penalty phase until after the guilty verdict, that counsel did not obtain the assistance of a mental health expert until after the guilty verdict, and that counsel failed to provide mental health experts with readily available background information concerning Mr. Thompson's long term drug and alcohol abuse. See Arguments V and VI.

These claims, and others, presented specifically pled allegations of fact, including matters that are not of record. Nothing in the files and records refuted the allegations. This case thus involved issues which must be resolved through an evidentiary hearing. The error in denying an evidentiary hearing is manifest in light of the fact that valid factual prima facie claims for relief were presented, claims which were not rebutted by the files and records, and which therefore required an evidentiary hearing for proper resolution.

As this Court's precedents and Rule 3.850 itself make clear, a Rule 3.850 movant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing unless the "motion and the files and the records in the case conclusively show that the prisoner is entitled to no relief."

Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850. The circuit court's order denying rehearing contains no discussion of this standard and does not explain how the attachments to the court's order refute Mr. Thompson's claims or even mention to which claims the various random attachments are relevant. See Hoffman v. State, 571 So. 2d 449, 450 (Fla. 1990) ("unless the trial court's order states a rationale based on the record, the court is required to attach those specific parts of the record that directly refute each claim raised").

This Court has not hesitated to remand Rule 3.850 cases for evidentiary resolution. See, e.g., Muhammad v. State, 603 So. 2d 488 (Fla. 1992); Rose v. State, 601 So. 2d 1181 (Fla. 1992); Breedlove v. Singletary, 595 So. 2d 8 (Fla. 1992). These cases clearly indicate that Mr. Thompson was and is entitled to an evidentiary hearing, and the trial court's summary denial of the Rule 3.850 motion was erroneous.

 ³Lemon v. State, 498 So. 2d 923 (Fla. 1986); State v. Crews,
477 So. 2d 984 (Fla. 1985); O'Callaghan v. State, 461 So. 2d 1354
(Fla, 1984); State v. Sireci, 502 So. 2d 1221 (Fla. 1987); Mason
v. State, 489 So. 2d 734 (Fla. 1986); Squires v. State, 513 So.
2d. 138 (Fla. 1987); Gorham v. State, 521 So. 2d 1067 (Fla. 1988).

ARGUMENT III

MR. THOMPSON WAS DEPRIVED OF HIS RIGHTS UNDER THE FIFTH, SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS WHEN THE STATE WITHHELD EVIDENCE WHICH WAS MATERIAL AND EXCULPATORY IN NATURE. SUCH OMISSIONS RENDERED DEFENSE COUNSEL'S REPRESENTATION INEFFECTIVE.

Bobby Davis was the State's case against Mr. Thompson.

Bobby Davis was the only witness to claim he saw the homicide.

Davis had given numerous statements to the FBI and Florida

authorities and had worn a body mike in an attempt to obtain

incriminating statements from Mr. Thompson shortly before Mr.

Thompson's arrest on January 4, 1985. Since the State's case

rested entirely upon Davis' testimony, the jury's assessment of

Davis' credibility was essential to its determination of Mr.

Thompson's guilt or innocence. However, because of the State's

withholding of critical impeachment evidence, the jury was never

provided the information necessary to assessing Davis'

credibility.

A criminal defendant is entitled to a fair trial. As the United States Supreme Court has explained:

... a fair trial is one in which evidence subject to adversarial testing is presented to an impartial tribunal for resolution of issues defined in advance of the proceedings.

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 685 (1984).

In order to insure that an adversarial testing, and hence a fair trial, occurs, certain obligations are imposed upon both the prosecutor and defense counsel. The prosecutor is required to disclose to the defense evidence "that is both favorable to the

accused and 'material either to guilt or punishment.'" <u>United</u>

States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667, 674 (1985) (quoting Brady v.

Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 87 (1963)). Defense counsel is obligated "to bring to bear such skill and knowledge as will render the trial a reliable adversarial testing process." <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 688. Mr. Thompson was denied a fair trial because the State misled the defense as to Bobby Davis' California criminal convictions and pending prosecutions, and as a result, defense counsel was never able to find out that the State was actively working to have those cases dismissed in exchange for testimony.

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