IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JUN 22 19981
CLERK, SURREME COURT By Chief Deputy Clerk

RAYMOND MICHAEL THOMPSON,

.

_____/

Appellant,

vs.

्र 👻 🥆

Case No. 81,927

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

SARA D. BAGGETT ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLA. BAR NO. 0857238 1655 PALM BEACH LAKES BLVD. SUITE 300 WEST PALM BEACH, FL. 33409 (561) 688-7759

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Supplemental Issues I and II - The deposition Thompson used to allege that Judge Kaplan was predisposed to sentence Thompson to death conclusively refuted Thompson's allegations. Since Thompson failed to show that Judge Kaplan was biased against him during his legally Judge Lebow properly denied Claim XXI as trial. insufficient on its face. As for Judge Kaplan's recusal from the relinquished postconviction proceedings because of his (Kaplan's) friendship with Thompson's original trial counsel, Thompson never raised this ground as a claim for relief. By failing to give Judge Lebow an opportunity to determine whether Judge Kaplan's friendship with Roy and Lea Black biased him against Thompson, Thompson failed to preserve this issue for review. Regardless, Judge Kaplan's friendship with Black did not become "close" until a year and a half <u>after</u> he denied Thompson's original 3.850 motion. ŇΟ reasonable person would fear that Judge Kaplan was biased against him under these circumstances.

Supplemental Issue III - After litigating public records for over a year and a half, during a relinquishment solely to conduct an *in camera* review of the State Attorney's files, Thompson had more than a reasonable amount of time to obtain the records and amend his 3.850 motion. His own dilatoriness in pursuing public records caused his inability to review the records at his leisure. Ultimately, he had 37 days to review them and amend his previously

filed 154-page motion for rehearing. Under the circumstances, he deserved no more.

Original Issue I - The records custodian for the State Attorney's Office testified to the nature of the materials exempted and his attempts to preserve them. Thompson failed to show that something specific was lost, that the specific document was prejudicial to his defense, and that the State Attorney's Office lost or destroyed such document in bad faith. The trial court properly denied Thompson's motion for sanctions. As for records allegedly withheld by FDLE, Thompson had from May 1991 to June 1996 to pursue those records administratively. Having failed to do so, he could not fault the trial court for refusing to reopen public records acquisition after Thompson had filed his amended motion, the State had filed its response, and this Court had set a date certain for resolution of the relinquishment.

Original Issue II - Whether Thompson was improperly denied an evidentiary hearing on his claims depends on the legally sufficiency of those claims. Since Thompson challenges the denial of each claim individually in other issues, the State will not duplicate its response.

Original Issue III - The record rebutted Thompson's claim that Davis and Parrish gave false testimony. The record also revealed that defense counsel was well aware of the existence, nature, and disposition of Bobby Davis' California charges. Finally, Thompson

failed to allege how the transcripts of the tape recorded statements between himself and Davis were inaccurate and what, if any, other tapes existed.

Original Issue IV - Thompson's claims that Roy Black and Mark Seiden were ineffective at the guilt phase of his trial were either procedurally barred, insufficiently pled, or refuted by the record.

Original Issue V - Thompson's claims that Roy Black and Mark Seiden were ineffective at the penalty phase of his trial were either procedurally barred, insufficiently pled, or refuted by the record.

Original Issue VI - To the extent this claim overlapped with Claim VIII (Original Issue V), the State relies on its response thereto. Standing alone, this claim was facially insufficient or refuted by the record.

Original Issue VII - Thompson failed to allege sufficient facts to show that his newly discovered evidence was unavailable at the time of trial. Regardless, the record revealed that defense counsel either knew of Errico's whereabouts prior to trial or could have discovered them with due diligence. Finally, Thompson failed to show that the trial court would probably impose a life sentence on retrial if Thompson were to present Errico's testimony.

Original Issue VIII - Thompson's claim that the trial court improperly restricted his cross-examination of Bobby Davis at trial was properly denied as procedurally barred.

Original Issue IX - Thompson's claim that there were omissions in the original appellate record was properly denied as procedurally barred. It was improper for Thompson to recast this claim as one of ineffectiveness. Regardless, he failed to show deficient conduct or prejudice.

Original Issue X - Thompson's claim that the State made improper arguments during the trial was properly denied as procedurally barred.

Original Issue XI - Thompson's claim that the trial court and defense counsel gave improper instructions and argument to the jury regarding it proper role in sentencing was properly denied as procedurally barred. Counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to raise a nonmeritorious claim.

Original Issue XII - Thompson's claim that the trial court failed to give limiting instructions for the five aggravating factors applicable to his case was properly denied as procedurally barred. To the extent Thompson's conclusory ineffectiveness claim overcomes the bar, Thompson failed to allege the deficiency with the "prior violent felony," "felony murder," and "pecuniary gain" aggravating factors; thus, he failed to prove prejudice. As for the HAC and CCP instructions, these factors would have been found to exist under any definition of their terms.

Original Issue XIII - Thompson's claim that the trial court improperly shifted the burden of proof to him to show that the
mitigation outweighed the aggravation was properly denied as procedurally barred. It was improper for Thompson to recast this claim as one of ineffectiveness. Regardless, he failed to prove prejudice.

Original Issue XIV - Thompson's claim that the trial court rejected mitigation was properly denied as procedurally barred because Thompson raised the issue on direct appeal.

Original Issue XV - Thompson's claim that the State failed to prove the corpus delicti was properly denied as procedurally barred.

Original Issue XVI - Thompson's claim that the trial court failed to allow argument and instruction on sympathy and mercy during the penalty phase was properly denied as procedurally barred. It was improper for Thompson to recast the claim as one of ineffectiveness. Regardless, he failed to show prejudice.

Original Issue XVII - Thompson's claim that new law required reassessment of his jury override was properly denied as procedurally barred.

Original Issue XVIII - There were no errors committed at Thompson's trial; therefore, there was no cumulative effect that rendered his trial unfair.

ARGUMENT

SUPPLEMENTAL ISSUES I AND II

WHETHER JUDGE KAPLAN WAS PREDISPOSED TO SENTENCE THOMPSON TO DEATH AND BIASED AGAINST THOMPSON DURING HIS ORIGINAL POSTCONVICTION PROCEEDINGS (Restated).

Judge Stanton Kaplan presided over Thompson's trial and ultimately sentenced Thompson to death, over the jury's life recommendation. Following this Court's affirmance of Thompson's conviction and sentence, Thompson file a "shell" motion for postconviction relief before Judge Kaplan, seeking leave to amend because of alleged agency noncompliance with his public records requests. (PCR I 20-36). Judge Kaplan denied both the request for leave to amend and the 3.850 motion, believing that Thompson was abusing the process. (PCR I 37-38, 39-40). Thompson then filed a motion for rehearing, fully pleading nineteen claims for relief. (PCR I 41-195). None of the claims challenged Judge Kaplan's fitness to preside over the postconviction proceedings, or his prior fitness to preside over Thompson's trial. Thompson also filed no motion for disgualification during this proceeding.

Following the State's response to Thompson's 3.850 motion, Judge Kaplan denied the motion without an evidentiary hearing, and Thompson appealed. (PCR II 207-79, 285, 286-87). After this Court remanded Thompson's case back to the trial court for an *in camera* review of the State Attorney's Office's withheld materials, Thompson moved to disgualify Judge Kaplan because Judge Kaplan had

allegedly contacted the Attorney General's Office for legal representation at a deposition in <u>State v. Lawrence Lewis</u>.⁸ (PCSR I 27-53, 54-68, 69-70, 87-93). Fifteen and a half months later, Judge Kaplan granted Thompson's motion for disqualification, but not for the grounds set forth in the motion.⁹ Rather, Judge Kaplan recused himself because he had developed a personal friendship with Thompson's trial attorney since Thompson's trial that had developed into a "close personal friendship" in the preceding year or so. (PCSR I 102-03).

Ten months later, Lawrence Lewis' collateral counsel deposed Judge Kaplan. (PCSR VI 767-859). That deposition became the source for Claim XXI of Thompson's amended 3.850 motion. Therein,

⁸ Judge Kaplan had recused himself upon Lewis' motion, and Lewis had sought to depose Judge Kaplan. When Lewis issued a deposition subpoena to Judge Kaplan, Judge Kaplan apparently had his judicial assistant call one of the Attorney General's branch offices to obtain representation for the deposition. Apparently, someone informed her that the office would represent him. (PCST 13). Meanwhile, the State moved to quash the deposition subpoena, which Judge Lebow denied, and the State appealed the denial of that motion to this Court; thus, no deposition and no representation were ever had. This Court ultimately established guidelines for engaging in postconviction discovery and remanded for proceedings consistent with those guidelines. See State v. Lewis, 656 So. 2d 1248 (Fla. 1994). Upon remand, Lewis' collateral counsel deposed Judge Kaplan. Private counsel appeared at the deposition on the judge's behalf. (PCSR VI 767-859).

⁹ Contrary to Thompson's assertion in his supplemental initial brief at page 43, Thompson did <u>not</u> move to disqualify Judge Kaplan "based on statements Judge Kaplan had made on the CBS television program "Rough Justice." The motion, supplement, and supplemental authority were all based on the alleged representation of Judge Kaplan by the Attorney General's Office.

Thompson alleged that this newly discovered evidence established that Judge Kaplan was predisposed to sentence him to death and was biased against Thompson, and his trial and collateral counsel. (PCSR IV 569-78). The State responded that Thompson's claim was face, because the deposition insufficient its legally on rebutted Thompson's themselves conclusively transcripts allegations. (PCR VI 726-27). Judge Lebow summarily denied this claim "based on Judge Kaplan's deposition (Exhibit V) and for the reasons explained in the State's Response to the Defendant's Motion." (PCSR VI 732).

In his supplemental initial brief, Thompson renewed his claim that Judge Kaplan was biased against him and his counsel during his trial and postconviction proceedings. He based his arguments solely on Judge Kaplan's statements in his deposition (supplemental issue I) and Judge Kaplan's reason for recusing himself from Thompson's relinquishment postconviction proceedings (supplemental issues I and II). He did not allege as a basis for reversal the conflict presented by the Attorney General's alleged representation of Judge Kaplan during the initial relinquishment proceedings. <u>See</u> **supplemental initial brief** at 20-47.

A. Judge Kaplan's alleged predisposition at trial based on his deposition testimony

As noted previously, Thompson did not use Judge Kaplan's deposition testimony as a basis for his motion to disqualify Judge Kaplan. Rather, he used it as newly discovered evidence in a claim

for relief in his amended 3.850 motion. (PCSR IV 569-78). Judge Lebow denied the claim without an evidentiary hearing. (PCSR VI 732). "If a postconviction motion is denied without an evidentiary hearing, the motion and record must show that no relief is warranted." Lopez v. Singletary, 634 So. 2d 1054, 1056 (Fla. Initially, Thompson complains that the trial court used 1993). Judge Kaplan's deposition, which had formed the basis for his allegations, to summarily deny the claim. He asserts that this deposition is "extra-record information [that] required evidentiary development" and does not constitute the "record" in this case, which can be used to rebut the claim. Supp. init. brief at 22. The entire deposition, however, which Thompson appended in full to his amended 3.850 motion (PCSR 569 n.21), did not support his allegations. In the deposition, Judge Kaplan explained that CBS interviewed him for 75 minutes in chambers for a show entitled "Rough Justice," then used parts of the interview as voice-overs when showing courtroom scenes. Thus, many of his comments were taken out of context and used to "make [him] look like the Public Defender's nightmare." (PCSR VI 775-77).

Regarding his comment on the show that he wanted to "get rid of these people and keep them off the streets as long as possible," Judge Kaplan explained that he was referring to "convicted violent people." He believed that it was his duty to keep convicted, habitual, violent offenders away from law-abiding citizens by

giving them long prison sentences. (PCSR VI 778-80). He also explained that, at that time, because of prison overcrowding, he gave convicted persons a longer overall sentence so that the person would spend a certain amount of time in prison before being released early because of gain time. (PCSR VI 784-86). As for his jaundiced view of defendants and defense counsel, Judge Kaplan explained that he has had many defendants come before him and try to convince him that they will behave and do what they are supposed to do if he will give them a second chance. Over the years, he has learned to be skeptical of the claims, but "a lot of them do still get [him]," i.e., persuade him to be lenient. (PCSR VI 792-93).

Nothing in Judge Kaplan's deposition even remotely implies that he was predisposed to sentence Thompson to death. Likewise, nothing in the deposition implies that he would automatically reject mitigation or accept aggravation. In fact, Judge Kaplan made no comments in relation to a capital case, much less Thompson's capital case. Everything was said in general about habitual, violent offenders, who were convicted of a crime.

Thompson failed to show that Kaplan was biased against him or his counsel at the time of trial. Thus, Judge Lebow properly denied Claim XXI as legally insufficient on its face. <u>Cf. Keenan</u> <u>v. Watson</u>, 525 So. 2d 476, 477 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988) (finding allegation that judge sentences drug violators more heavily than others legally insufficient to warrant recusal); <u>Ouince v. State</u>,

592 So. 2d 669, 670 (Fla. 1992) (finding allegation that judge made disparaging comment in public address about out-of-state attorneys where defendant had an out-of-state attorney legally insufficient to warrant recusal).

B. Judge Kaplan's alleged bias during postconviction proceedings based on his friendship with trial counsel

As noted previously, Judge Kaplan did not recuse himself from the relinquished postconviction proceedings based on the allegations made in Thompson's motion for disqualification. Rather, he recused himself on the following basis:

> 1. Since the conclusion of the trial in this matter this Judge has developed a personal relationship with trial counsel for the Defendant, Roy Black.

> 2. Within the last year or so, this Judge's personal relationship has developed in to a close friendship with Attorney Roy Black and Attorney Black's wife, Mrs. Lea Black.

(PCSR 102-03).

•

At no time did Thompson allege this friendship as a claim for relief. Judge Lebow gave Thompson an opportunity to amend his 3.850 motion, which Judge Kaplan had denied, based on newly obtained public records. Thompson took the opportunity to add an additional claim, alleging that Judge Kaplan was biased at his trial and original postconviction proceedings. His only grounds for this claim, however, were based on Judge Kaplan's deposition and the alleged conflict that developed when Judge Kaplan allegedly sought representation by the Attorney General's Office. Thompson did not allege Judge Kaplan's friendship with Thompson's trial attorney as a basis for relief. As a result, Judge Lebow was not given an opportunity to determine the effect of such an allegation on the denial of Thompson's original 3.850 motion. Therefore, Thompson failed to preserve this claim for review.¹⁰ <u>See Tillman</u> <u>v. State</u>, 471 So. 2d 32 (Fla. 1985); <u>Steinhorst v. State</u>, 412 So. 2d 332 (Fla. 1982).

, **•** ,

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